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Subject:
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Mr. Milo M. Zonka
1077 Jupiter Boulevard Northwest
Palm Bay, Florida 32907

RE: DUAL OFFICE-HOLDING – COUNTIES – ADVISORY BODIES – whether county advisory
bodies are statutory bodies having advisory powers. Art. II, s. 5(a), Fla. Const.

Dear Mr. Zonka:

You have asked for my opinion on substantially the following question:

Does service on the Brevard County Investment Committee and the Valkaria Airport Advisory
Board by an elected municipal council member violate the dual office-holding prohibition
contained in Article II, section 5(a), Florida Constitution?

According to your letter, you were elected in November 2007 to serve a three-year term as a
council member in the City of Palm Bay, Florida. Prior to your election you were appointed to two
county boards: the Brevard County Investment Committee and the Valkaria Airport Advisory
Board. You have asked whether simultaneous service in these three positions would violate the
constitutional prohibition against holding multiple offices.

Article II, section 5(a), Florida Constitution, provides that:

"No person shall hold at the same time more than one office under the government of the state
and the counties and municipalities therein, except that a notary public or military officer may
hold another office, and any officer may be a member of a constitution revision commission, . . .
constitutional convention, or statutory body having only advisory powers."

This provision of the Florida Constitution prohibits a person from simultaneously holding more
than one "office" under the state, county, or municipal governments. The prohibition applies to
both elected and appointed offices.[1]

The Constitution contains no definition for the terms "office" or "officer" for purposes of the dual
office-holding prohibition. However, Florida courts and this office have advised that it is the
nature of the powers and duties of a particular position that determines whether it is an "office"
within the scope of the dual office-holding prohibition or an "employment" outside the scope of
the provision.[2] As the Florida Supreme Court has stated, an office "implies a delegation of a
portion of the sovereign power to, and the possession of it by, the person filling the office[.]"[3]
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The term "office" embraces the idea of tenure, duration, and duties in exercising a portion of the
sovereign power, conferred or defined by law and not by contract, whereas an "employment"
does not "comprehend a delegation of any part of the sovereign power."[4]

Service on the governing body of a governmental entity, such as a city or county, clearly
constitutes an office.[5] Thus, as an elected council member in Palm Bay, you are an officer for
purposes of the constitutional provision. The issue, then, is whether your membership on either
the Brevard County Investment Committee or the Valkaria Airport Advisory Board is an office.

Article II, section 5(a), Florida Constitution, contains several exceptions to the prohibition against
dual office-holding including, specifically, "statutory bod[ies] having only advisory powers." This
exception has been the subject of interpretation both by the courts and by the Attorney General's
Office. However, the majority of these opinions have focused on the nature of these bodies as
advisory bodies rather than on an interpretation of the term "statutory" as it is used in this
constitutional provision.[6]

The term "statutory" is defined to mean "[o]f or relating to legislation[,]"[7] and "enacted, created,
or regulated by statute."[8] These definitions do not limit "statutes" to legislation enacted solely
by the State Legislature, but appear to include within the scope of the term enactments by other
lawmaking bodies such as municipalities and counties.[9] Thus, it would appear that a county
advisory board could be considered a "statutory body having only advisory powers" within the
constitutional exception if it has been created by legislative enactment of the governing body.

While my research has revealed no case law on this question and the area is not completely free
from doubt, it is a generally established principle that the right to hold office is a valuable one
which should not be curtailed in the absence of plain provisions of law.[10] Thus, if ambiguity
exists in construing provisions limiting the right to hold office, those provisions should be
construed in favor of eligibility. In light of this principle, this office would read the term "statutory"
for purposes of the constitutional dual office-holding prohibition to include advisory bodies
created by local legislative enactment.

A recent Attorney General's Opinion, while not specifically speaking to the "statutory" nature of
the office, concluded that a member of a town commission could serve on a town committee with
purely advisory or ministerial duties without violating the dual office-holding prohibition. In
Attorney General's Opinion 2005-59, this office reviewed the duties and nature of the committee
upon which the commissioner was serving and concluded:

"[A] member of the town commission may serve on a town committee that has purely advisory
duties or ministerial duties to carry out decisions previously made by the commission [without
violating the dual office-holding prohibition]. The latter would appear to be more in the nature of
an employment, since exercising ministerial duties would not rise to the level of exercising a
sovereign power or independent authority of a governmental nature. However, town committees
that are given the authority to make factual determinations, review permit applications, issue
permits, grant variances, or impose fines exercise sovereign powers that would make them
offices for purposes of the dual officeholding prohibition."

Thus, the opinion concludes that "where a committee merely makes non-binding



recommendations and has not otherwise been delegated any powers to make factual
determinations or exercise any portion of the municipality's sovereign power, there would not
appear to be an office subject to the dual officeholding prohibition."[11]

You have asked whether service on either the Brevard County Investment Committee or the
Valkaria Airport Advisory Board would constitute an office. The Brevard County Investment
Committee was created by resolution of the board of county commissioners. The resolution
provides:

"The County shall have an investment committee comprised of five community volunteers.
Support staff members shall consist of a representative of the Clerk to the Board and the Board
of County Commissioners. The Investment Committee shall have the following responsibilities:

• Review and recommend changes to the investment policy,
• Monitor the investment transactions to ensure that proper controls are in place to maintain the
integrity and security of the investment portfolio,
• Assure that any applicable statutes and written policies of the Board are being followed by
investment staff,
• Review and approve written investment procedures,
• Assist the Board in developing performance benchmarks and evaluating performance of the
investment strategy,
• Evaluate new or alternative investment strategies,
• Discuss such topics as economic outlook, portfolio diversification, maturity structure, potential
risks and the target rate of return for the investment portfolio, and
• Report regularly to the Board."[12]

My review of these responsibilities leads me to conclude that this is a volunteer advisory body,
not an office for purpose of the dual office-holding provision of the Florida Constitution.

Similarly, the duties of the Valkaria Airport Advisory Board would appear to be advisory. The
board is created by resolution of the board of county commissioners and as the authority and
duty to:

"(1) Provide recommendations to the County Manager or designee, and Board of County
Commissioners on the Valkaria Airport annual budget (however, ultimate budget approval and
funding rests solely in the discretion of the Board of County Commissioners);
(2) Provide recommendations to the County Manager or designee, and Board of County
Commissioners, on amendments to, or adoption of, an airport layout plan or airport master plan;
(3) Provide recommendations to the County Manager or designee, and Board of County
Commissioners, on development of appropriate lease restrictions and covenants for property
located within the airport;
(4) Provide recommendations to the County Manager or designee, and Board of County
Commissioners, on development and amendment of rules and regulations relating to activities
on the airport, and;
(5) Review and provide recommendations to the County Manager or designee, and board of
County Commissioners on any issue or subject referred to the VAAB by the County Commission
which matter may be related to the Valkaria Airport."[13]



Because the duties of the board appear to be solely advisory and the board has been created by
formal legislative action, it is my opinion that service on the Valkaria Airport Advisory Board
would not constitute an office for purposes of Article II, section 5(a), Florida Constitution.

In sum, the Brevard County Investment Committee and the Valkaria Airport Advisory Board
appear to be statutory bodies having only advisory powers and neither of these positions would
constitute an "office" for purposes of Article II, section 5(a), Florida Constitution. Thus, you may
continue to serve as a City Council Member in Palm Bay, Florida, as well as a member of the
Brevard County Investment Committee and the Valkaria Airport Advisory Board without violating
the constitutional dual office-holding prohibition.

Sincerely,

Bill McCollum
Attorney General

BM/tgh
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